FILED

07/14/2023 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0224

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 23-0224

THOMAS C. WEINER, M.D.,

Plaintiff and Appellant

v.

ST. PETER'S HEALTH, a Montana Domestic Nonprofit Corporation, d/b/a St. Peter's Hospital

Defendant and Appellee.

On Appeal from Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis & Clark County Cause No. CDV 2022-501, Hon. Kathy Seeley, District Court Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(APPEARANCES ON NEXT PAGE)

APPEARANCES

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The sole issue is whether the district court erred by granting Defendant and Appellee St. Peter's Health's motion to dismiss Dr. Thomas Weiner's complaint based on the doctrine of res judicata (claim preclusion).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the relevant cases.

There are two pending cases relevant to this appeal. The first was filed by Dr. Thomas Weiner ("Dr. Weiner") on December 10, 2020, in the First Judicial District Court as Cause No. ADV-2020-1988 (Hon. Mike Menahan) (*Weiner I*) against St. Peter's Health ("SPH") and its individual agents.¹ *Weiner I* is ongoing—discovery is closed, numerous motions are pending, and there is no trial date.

Weiner I challenges SPH's initial summary suspensions of Dr. Weiner,² the simultaneous termination of Dr. Weiner's employment at SPH, and numerous,

¹ The initial individual defendants in *Weiner I* were Wade Johnson, James Tarver, M.D., Kerry Hale, M.D., Shelly Harkins, M.D., Todd Wampler, M.D. Dr. Weiner refers to the *Weiner I* defendants herein as SPH and the individual defendants. Dr. Weiner subsequently added Randy Sasich, M.D., as a defendant.

² Dr. Weiner was summarily suspended on October 15, 2020, and November 17, 2020. For the purposes of this appeal, the combination of the two is referred to herein as the "initial summary suspensions."

public defamatory statements about Dr. Weiner's competency as a doctor. The substance of *Weiner I* is further explained in the Statement of Facts.

The subject of this appeal is the second lawsuit initiated by Dr. Weiner on June 17, 2022, in the First Judicial District Court as Cause No. CDV 2022-501 (Hon. Kathy Seeley) ("*Weiner II*"). Dr. Weiner filed *Weiner II* after the *Weiner I* court refused Dr. Weiner's request for leave to file a second amended complaint.

Weiner II is a breach of contract case based on SPH's failures to comply with its Medical Staff Bylaws (the "Bylaws") during its administrative appellate review of the initial summary suspensions and subsequent revocation of Dr. Weiner's medical staff membership and clinical privileges. Dr. Weiner seeks (1) a declaration that the results of the peer review appeal process are null and void based on SPH's multiple breaches of the Bylaws and the inherent unfairness of the Bylaws; (2) permanent injunctive relief requiring SPH to retract and/or void its April 25, 2022 adverse action report submitted to the National Practitioner Data Bank ("NPDB") and further enjoining SPH from submitting any future adverse reports to the NPDB based on SPH's multiple breaches of the Bylaws and inherent unfairness of the Bylaws; and (3) damages against SPH for breaching the Bylaws. Dkt. 1. pp. 20– 22.

II. Procedural backgrounds of the cases.

A. Weiner I.

Weiner I was filed on December 10, 2020. Dr. Weiner simultaneously filed a *Motion for Temporary Restraining Order* to prevent SPH from filing an adverse action report against Dr. Weiner with the NPDB or the Montana Board of Medical Examiners based on the initial summary suspensions. SPH and the individual defendants stipulated to entry of a preliminary injunction preventing SPH and its agents from filing with the NPDB.

On April 7, 2021, SPH filed a motion to stay *Weiner I* until the conclusion of its administrative appeal process.

Dr. Weiner filed his first motion for leave to amend on April 22, 2021. The revised complaint conformed the factual allegations to evidence discovered between December 10 and April 22, 2021, added a defendant (Randy Sasich, M.D.), and added new claims—including a claim seeking to enjoin SPH from **continuing** its administrative peer review appeal process because of SPH and the individual defendants' previous breaches of the Bylaws and CEO Johnson's statements to staff, patients, and the public announcing Dr. Weiner's guilt.

Judge Menahan granted Dr. Weiner's motion to amend on May 18, 2021, and denied SPH's motion to stay on May 19, 2021.

On June 4, 2021, Dr. Weiner filed a *Second Motion for Temporary Restraining Order* seeking to enjoin SPH from continuing its administrative appeal process, alleging SPH and the individual defendants' past failures to comply with the Bylaws and federal and state law and the inherent unfairness of the peer review prevented a fair process moving forward. On June 17, 2021, the district court denied that motion without further briefing from the parties based on its finding that Dr. Weiner would not be irreparably harmed, thus permitting SPH to proceed with its administrative appeal process while *Weiner I* moved forward.

Six months later, on January 6, 2022, SPH finally concluded its sham administrative appeal process when SPH's Board of Directors affirmed the summary suspension and revocation of Dr. Weiner's medical staff membership and clinical privileges. It was only then when, according to SPH's Bylaws, Dr. Weiner could "resort[] to formal legal action challenging the decision, the procedures used to arrive at the decision, or assert[] any claim against SPH or participants in the process." Dkt. 1, Exhibit A, p. 48. In other words, Dr. Weiner exhausted his administrative remedies with SPH and was free to resort to formal legal action challenging the administrative appeal process.

The following week, January 14, 2022, SPH and the individual defendants moved to lift the stipulated preliminary injunction claiming they were required to

report their adverse peer review actions against Dr. Weiner to the NPDB because they concluded the administrative appeal against Dr. Weiner. Dr. Weiner opposed the motion arguing the filing of an adverse action based upon SPH's sham peer review process would destroy Dr. Weiner's reputation and, further, he was entitled to a trial on the merits before the preliminary injunction was lifted given the significant likelihood of harm.

On February 4, 2022, Dr. Weiner moved for leave to file a second amended complaint challenging the administrative appeal process and seeking to enjoin SPH and the individual defendants from filing an adverse action report with the NPDB based on the outcome of the same. Dkt. 8, Exhibit A (*Weiner I Proposed Second Amended Verified Complaint*) (adding post First Amended Verified Complaint Factual Allegations and asserting additional claims related to the unfair and predetermined Hearing and Appellate review process).

On April 22, 2022, the district court denied Dr. Weiner's motion for leave to file his second amended complaint, finding the amendment would cause undue delay and prejudice to SPH and the individual defendants. That same day, the district court granted SPH's motion to lift the preliminary injunction.

The result of those combined rulings was SPH filed an adverse report with the NPDB—a "scarlet letter"—against Dr. Weiner based upon its sham peer

review process, but Dr. Weiner was foreclosed from challenging SPH's so-called findings and the report in *Weiner I*.

B. Weiner II.

Dr. Weiner filed this action (*Weiner II*) on June 17, 2022, challenging SPH's sham administrative appeal process and its results—pursuing the claims the district court would not allow Dr. Weiner to pursue in *Weiner I*. SPH moved to dismiss, arguing impermissible collateral attack, claim splitting, res judicata, and laches. The district court granted SPH's motion based on res judicata—denying SPH's other arguments for dismissal—holding:

- 1. Dr. Weiner could have brought his *Weiner II* claims in *Weiner I*; and
- 2. Judge Menahan's denial of Dr. Weiner's second motion to amend *Weiner I* was a final judgment on the merits for the claims brought in *Weiner II*.

Appendix 1. Dr. Weiner appeals this decision.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Given this is an appeal of a dismissal on the basis of res judicata, it is necessary to provide factual background regarding *Weiner I*, the nature of the claims asserted in that case, and the relevant timeline.

I. Factual background.

Dr. Weiner practiced medical oncology at SPH for over 24 years. Dkt. 8, Exhibit F (*Weiner I First Amended Verified Complaint*), \P 3. Dr. Weiner was recredentialed without exception every two years. *Id.*, \P 20. Dr. Weiner never had his clinical competency limited by any of SPH's quality assurance committees and his NPDB record was clear. *Id.*, \P 21.

Despite Dr. Weiner's flawless record, SPH began targeting Dr. Weiner's employment beginning in 2016, including cutting Dr. Weiner's salary on two separate occasions. *Id.*, ¶¶ 23, 36, 42–44. The public backlash SPH faced for attacking Dr. Weiner was enormous. *Id.*, ¶ 29. Even the Montana Nurses Association responded, recognizing "Dr. Weiner puts patients before profits, benefiting our community, our patients, our staff and our community hospital." *Id.*, ¶ 30.

In April 2020, Dr. Weiner became fed up with SPH's antics and threatened to resign. In response, individual defendants Wampler, Harkins, Johnson, and others met to "discuss" Dr. Weiner. The results of the meeting are unknown; the only reason Dr. Weiner learned about this secret meeting was through a chronological summary prepared by an SPH employee after Dr. Weiner's termination.

On September 10, 2020, Benefis Health System announced its intent to construct a freestanding medical clinic in Helena. *Id.*, ¶ 50. Benefis will directly compete with SPH in medical oncology. Because Dr. Weiner was not under a noncompete, if Dr. Weiner's employment simply ended, he could have moved his practice and devoted patients elsewhere, including Benefis. *Id.*, ¶ 51. Consequently, SPH and the individual defendants needed to not only terminate Dr. Weiner's employment but also destroy his ability to practice medicine to end the threat of competition from him. Shortly after Benefis' announcement, they did just that. *Id.*

Just eighteen days after Benefis' announcement, SPH's Credentials Committee ("CC") initiated an adverse action against Dr. Weiner. On October 14, the CC voted to summarily suspended Dr. Weiner's privileges—even though the CC does not have authority under the Bylaws to summarily suspend a physician and even though SPH must give a physician notice and an opportunity to discuss, explain, or refute evidence before affecting privileges.

Nonetheless, at the end of the next day, October 15, individual defendants Tarver and Hale presented Dr. Weiner a letter, "Re: Notice of Summary Suspension and Investigation", informing him his medical staff privileges were summarily suspended based upon on a single undisclosed external review of his care of an unidentified oncology patient. *Id.*, ¶¶ 52, 54.

Even though the CC members previously agreed they needed to (and, in fact, were required to) discuss their concerns with Dr. Weiner before affecting his privileges, Dr. Weiner was never: 1) interviewed; 2) provided pre-deprivation notice; nor 3) provided an opportunity to address the claims against him prior to the suspension. *Id.*, ¶ 52. During the so-called investigation, the CC did not speak to any physicians, nurses, or staff members in SPH's Cancer Treatment Center ("CTC") to assess the merits of the claims against Dr. Weiner. Moreover, the medical records provided to the outside reviewer who prepared the external report upon which the summary suspension was premised were incomplete. Dr. Weiner was not afforded any due process.

The only basis for imposing a summary suspension without notice under the Bylaws is "whenever failure to take such action may result in an imminent danger (i) to the health and/or safety of another; or (ii) the continued effective operation of SPH." *Id.*, ¶ 58. The summary suspension letter did not explain how, let alone state, Dr. Weiner presented an imminent danger. Also, despite the *ex post facto* claim of imminent danger, the letter was not delivered until the end of the next day, October 15—after Dr. Weiner treated patients all day.

SPH's letter offered Dr. Weiner an alternative to summary suspension; it stated he could voluntarily refrain from exercising his privileges while the CC

completed its investigation. *Id.*, ¶¶ 55, 62. Dr. Weiner agreed. *Id.*, ¶ 66. SPH and the individual defendants' attorney (and counsel of record) subsequently confirmed Dr. Weiner was on "a voluntary leave of absence <u>unrelated to clinical</u> <u>competency issues</u>," not a summary suspension. *Id.*, ¶ 71. A physician on voluntary leave of absence must request reinstatement of privileges before returning to practice. Dr. Weiner never did. *Id.*, ¶ 107.

Five days later, on November 17, while Dr. Weiner was on voluntary leave and not practicing medicine, individual defendants Johnson, Tarver, and Hale summarily suspended Dr. Weiner a second time. *Id.*, ¶ 77. Again, the suspension was entered without notice or hearing in violation of SPH's Bylaws. *Id.*, ¶ 78. This time, SPH's administration was actively involved in the investigation and decision even though it was supposed to be a matter decided by the medical staff. This time, the suspension letter claimed Dr. Weiner posed an imminent danger to patients but failed to explain how. *Id.*, ¶ 80. Although unstated in the letter, SPH and the individual defendants subsequently claimed during depositions they needed to suspend Dr. Weiner because he was directing patient care through nurses while on leave. However, they admit they never interviewed any nurses about whether Dr. Weiner was directing patient care, nor did they have knowledge of Dr. Weiner

directing patient care. Indeed, every nurse testified Dr. Weiner never directed patient care in the CTC after October 15, 2020.

Worse yet, when pressed during her deposition, individual defendant Hale identified the real reasons for Dr. Weiner's second summary suspension: not wanting it to linger over the holidays (Thanksgiving and Christmas).

Individual defendant Wampler, as President of SPH's Medical Group terminated Dr. Weiner's employment that same day due to the summary suspension. *Id.*, \P 83.

That same evening, individual defendants Johnson, Harkins, and Wampler met with the CTC nurses and staff to discuss Dr. Weiner's termination. *Id.*, ¶ 85. They disclosed confidential peer review protected data to the CTC staff members present at the meeting and stated that Dr. Weiner was prescribing chemotherapy to patients that did not have cancer.

Dr. Weiner's first opportunity to defend himself did not occur until November 24, 2020, during a remote meeting of the MEC to discuss the November 17 summary suspension. *Id.*, ¶¶ 91, 93. None of the MEC members was a medical oncologist qualified to understand Dr. Weiner's explanations of patient care. *Id.*, ¶ 95. No one from SPH presented evidence or explained how Dr. Weiner presented an imminent danger to patients—the sole basis for a summary

suspension. *Id.*, ¶ 93. Dr. Weiner presented information regarding the handful of patients identified in the second summary suspension notice. *Id.*, ¶ 94.

The next day, Dr. Weiner received a letter informing him "the MEC voted unanimously to uphold and continue the summary suspension of your clinical privileges and medical staff membership that was imposed on November 17, 2020." *Id.*, ¶ 96. Once again, the letter did not explain how Dr. Weiner presented an imminent danger to patients while he was on voluntary leave. *Id*.

The second time Dr. Weiner was given an opportunity to defend himself was at a November 30 remote meeting of the CC after it "completed" its investigation, where it was considering recommending revocation of his medical staff privileges. *Id.*, ¶ 99. Although the CC had a report from the Greeley Company—hired to review Dr. Weiner's practice—and the patients' medical records, Dr. Weiner was only provided with the general nature of the concerns prior to the CC meeting. *Id.* After that meeting, the CC voted to revoke Dr. Weiner's medical staff privileges.

Next, on or about December 8, 2020, SPH's CEO, Johnson, published a letter in the newspaper, publicly disclosing the same untruthful allegations leveled against Dr. Weiner through peer review that resulted in the initial summary suspensions and ultimate revocation of Dr. Weiner's privileges. *Id.*, ¶ 152. Again, on December 8, 2020, SPH, Johnson, and Harkins disclosed the substance of the

peer review to SPH's staff and the CTC's patients. Hale confirmed at her deposition the information disclosed was identical to that used during Dr. Weiner's peer review.

As of the dates of SPH and Johnson's public disclosures of information about Dr. Weiner's peer review, the MEC had not yet determined whether Dr. Weiner's medical staff privileges would be revoked, or whether the summary suspension continued. That did not happen until December 15, 2020, when the MEC, with Hale, Tarver, Johnson, Harkins, and SPH's counsel present, adopted the CC's recommendation to revoke Dr. Weiner's medical staff privileges and continued the summary suspension beyond its original thirty days.

In making these decisions, the MEC relied solely on representations made by Dr. Hale. Specifically, Dr. Hale prepared what is referred to as the "Hale Report" to summarize the CC's investigation of Dr. Weiner, including outside reviews prepared by the Greeley Company for the CC. The Hale Report claimed the Greeley Company's reviews showed substandard care for approximately ten percent (10%) of Dr. Weiner's randomized cases. The Hale Report mischaracterized the Greely Company's findings. The Greeley Company's report actually stated that concerns regarding Dr. Weiner were minor, and that Dr. Weiner should be commended for his work given his high case load. Hale did not include these favorable findings in her Hale Report.

The MEC relied on the inaccurate Hale Report to adopt the CC's recommendation to revoke Dr. Weiner's medical staff privileges and uphold the CC's summary suspension of Dr. Weiner's privileges. The MEC did not conduct any independent investigation regarding Dr. Weiner's summary suspension; it solely relied upon materials provided by the CC.

Unbeknownst to Dr. Weiner, until SPH provided notice of the "fair hearing" (discussed *infra*), SPH greatly expanded the universe of patients and medical records at issue. Dkt. 1 (*Weiner II Complaint*), ¶ 61.

II. The initial lawsuit—Weiner I.

The initial summary suspensions of Dr. Weiner's medical staff privileges and termination of Dr. Weiner's employment with SPH permitted SPH to submit an adverse action report to the NPDB. This Court has analogized similar adverse action reports to a "scarlet letter" that results in permanent harm to the physician. *See Cole v. St. James Healthcare*, 2008 MT 453, ¶ 23, 348 Mont. 68, 199 P.3d 810.

Faced with the active threat that SPH would file an adverse action report with the NPDB, Dr. Weiner filed *Weiner I* on December 10, 2020, challenging his summary suspensions and termination to protect his ability to practice medicine by

stopping SPH from submitting an adverse action report, defend his reputation, and hold those responsible liable for their actions.

On December 15, while *Weiner I* was already pending, the MEC finalized the summary suspension and revocation of Dr. Weiner's privileges. Dkt. 1, ¶¶ 54–56. As required by the Bylaws, Dr. Weiner appealed those decisions through SPH's administrative appeal process. *Id.*, ¶ 58. SPH responded in January 2021, stating it was in the process of scheduling appeal hearings. *Id.*, ¶ 59.

On April 5, 2021, SPH filed a motion to stay the proceedings, arguing Dr.

Weiner failed to exhaust his administrative remedies under the SPH Bylaws.

Specifically:

If an adverse action or recommendation is made with respect to the membership status or clinical privileges of a Physician or Practitioner on the Medical Staff . . . , he or she must exhaust the remedies afforded by these bylaws (including its Appendices) before resorting to formal legal action challenging the decision, the procedures used to arrive at the decision, or asserting any claim against SPH or participants in the decision.

Supplemental Appendix 1 (SPH Brief ISO Motion to Stay), p. 2; see also Dkt. 1, Ex.

A, p. 48.

On April 22, 2021, Dr. Weiner filed his first motion to amend *Weiner I*. The revised complaint conformed the factual allegations to new evidence, added a

defendant, and added new claims—including to enjoin SPH from continuing its peer review process based on previous breaches of contract.

The district court granted Dr. Weiner's motion to amend on May 18, 2021. The next day, the court denied the motion to stay. The court held *Weiner I*'s claims were not subject to the exhaustion requirement because "none of [Dr. Weiner's] present claims are subject to the administrative process to which Defendants expect Weiner to avail himself." Dkt. 8, Exhibit B (*Weiner I Order Denying Stay*). The district court held *Weiner I* <u>did not</u> challenge a decision, the procedures used, or assert any claim against SPH or participants in the decision process. *See id*.

SPH finally provided a Notice of the "fair hearing" required under the Bylaws' appeal process by letter dated May 21, 2021, five months after Dr. Weiner appealed SPH's adverse actions against him. Dkt. 1, ¶ 60. The Notice set the hearing for June 21–25 and June 28–30, 2021. *Id*.

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