IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
Case No. DA 23-0224

THOMAS C. WEINER, M.D.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

ST. PETER'S HEALTH, a Montana Domestic Nonprofit Corporation, d/b/a St.
Peter's Hospital,

Defendant and Appellee.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District,
In and for the County of Lewis & Clark,
Cause No. CDV-2022-501; Honorable Kathy Seeley, Presiding

J. Devlan Geddes
Jeffrey J. Tierney
Henry J.K. Tesar
GOETZ, GEDDES & GARDNER, P.C.
35 North Grand, P.O. Box 6580
Bozeman, MT 59771-6580
(406) 587-0618
devlan@goetzlawfirm.com
jtierney@goetzlawfirm.com
htesar@goetzlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Appellant

David M. McLean
Ryan C. Willmore

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Weiner's complaint was appropriately dismissed by the District Court. The Order granting SPH's Motion to Dismiss set forth applicable authority and the analysis is well-reasoned. (See Weiner App. 1). There is no reason to disturb the District Court's conclusion.

Weiner's three causes of action are barred pursuant to the doctrine of res judicata. The denial for leave to amend in *Weiner I* constitutes a final judgment regarding the three causes of action. There is identity between the subject matter and issues, as the causes of action are the same. Lastly, the decision was not unfair, as Weiner could have pursued his other claims in *Weiner I*.

Additionally, if this Court finds the District Court erred in applying the doctrine of res judicata, this Court should affirm based on either the doctrine of laches or the doctrine of claim splitting.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED *WEINER II* BASED UPON THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA.

The doctrine of res judicata, or claim preclusion, bars re-litigation of a claim that a party has already had the opportunity to litigate. *Baltrusch v. Baltrusch*, 2006 MT 51, ¶ 15, 331 Mont. 281, 130 P.3d 1267. Central to res judicata is the concept of finality; litigation must, at some point, come to an end. *State v. Southwick*, 2007 MT 257, ¶ 15, 339 Mont. 281, 169 P.3d 698; *Orlando v. Prewett*, 236 Mont. 478, 481, 771 P.2d 111, 113 (1989). In addition, res judicata promotes judicial efficiency, deterring plaintiffs from splitting a single cause of action into more than one lawsuit. *Touris*, ¶ 12(citing *Baltrusch*, ¶ 15). A plaintiff cannot continually seek re-litigation of issues under the guise of claim-splitting because doing so would frustrate a purpose of res judicata, protecting defendants from repetitive lawsuits, and instead encourage a veritable whack-a-mole of contemporaneously-filed duplicative lawsuits based upon similar claims. *Touris*, ¶ 22. Like the claim splitting doctrine, res judicata is designed to defeat collateral attacks against previous orders.

In the underlying case, Weiner dedicated less than two pages of argument to the issue of claim preclusion. (Doc. 8, pp. 17-19). Now, Weiner dedicates twenty pages to res judicata in his Opening Brief, presenting numerous new arguments that should have been raised below. This Court's rule regarding arguments presented for the first time on appeal is well established. *Grizzly Sec. Armored Express, Inc. v. Bancard Servs.*, 2016 MT 287, ¶ 59, 385 Mont. 307, 384 P.3d 68. This Court has consistently held that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *See In re T.E.*, 2002 MT 195, ¶ 20, 311 Mont. 148, 54 P.3d 38. Accordingly, the Court generally will not address either an issue raised for the first time on appeal or a party's change in legal theory. *Grizzly*, ¶ 59 (citations omitted). The basis for the general rule is that it is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider. *Id.* Accordingly, this Court should cast aside Weiner's newly raised arguments.

Moving to the core of the doctrine of res judicata, it applies when five elements are met: (1) the parties or their privies are the same; (2) the subject matter of the present and past actions is the same; (3) the issues are the same and relate to the same subject matter; (4) the capacities of the persons are the same in reference to the subject matter and to the issues; and (5) a final judgment has been entered on the merits in the first action. *Adams v. Two Rivers Apartments, LLLP*, 2019 MT

157, ¶ 8, 396 Mont. 315, 444 P.3d 415; *Poplar Elementary Sch. Dist. No. 9 v. Froid Elementary Sch. Dist. No. 65*, 2020 MT 216, ¶ 39, 401 Mont. 152, 471 P.3d 57. The doctrine of res judicata deters plaintiffs from splitting a single cause of action into more than one lawsuit, as Weiner attempted to do in *Weiner I* and *Weiner II*, thereby conserving judicial resources and encouraging reliance on adjudication by preventing inconsistent judgments. *Baltrusch*, ¶ 15.

In his appeal, Weiner does not challenge the first four elements of res judicata. Instead, Weiner only argues a final judgment on the merits was not entered in the first action. Further, Weiner argues he could not have brought his *Weiner II* claims in *Weiner I* when he filed his first amended complaint. Both of these arguments fail.

1. The District Court correctly held there was a final judgment on the merits in *Weiner I*.

Since Weiner admits the first four elements of res judicata are met, the only element for this Court to analyze is whether the denial of Weiner's motion for leave to amend in *Weiner I* constitutes a final judgment on the merits. The District Court correctly held that it did.

The District Court weighed all the circumstances and found in this particular, unusual circumstance, the denial of leave to amend the complaint in *Weiner I* constitutes a final judgment for res judicata purposes. (Weiner App. 1, p. 9). First, the District Court relied on *Brilz v. Metro. Gen. Ins. Co.*, 2012 MT 184,

366 Mont. 78, 285 P.3d 494. Under claim preclusion, a final judgment on the merits of an action precludes the parties or their privies from relitigating claims that were or could have been raised in that action. *Brilz*, ¶ 18. Claim preclusion bars the relitigation of a claim that the party has already had an opportunity to litigate, including “claims that were or *could have been* litigated in the first action.” *Brilz*, ¶ 21 (Emphasis in original). While claim preclusion traditionally aimed to prevent plaintiffs from “splitting” causes of action, it now also operates as a kind of common-law compulsory joinder requirement, promoting judicial economy through the consolidation of related claims. *Brilz*, ¶ 23. “The law of res judicata now reflects the expectation that parties who are given the capacity to present their ‘entire controversies’ shall in fact do so.” *Brilz*, ¶ 24 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 24 cmt. a).

In *Brilz*, Plaintiff argued that the federal district court’s judgment was not “on the merits” with respect to her common law claim because the court ultimately ruled that she had failed to plead or allege such a claim in her complaint. *Brilz*, ¶ 26. Despite her arguments, this Court held “that a dismissal for inadequate pleading is a ‘final judgment on the merits’ for purposes of claim preclusion under Montana law, so long as leave to amend was available and either was not requested or was requested but properly rejected under the circumstances.” *Brilz*, ¶ 29. When determining whether leave to amend was properly rejected under the

circumstances, a trial court is justified in denying a motion to amend for an apparent reason such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by allowance of the amendment, or futility of the amendment. *Lindey's, Inc. v. Prof. Consultants, Inc.*, 244 Mont. 238, 242, 797 P.2d 920, 923 (1990). This is exactly what happened in *Weiner I* – leave to amend was properly rejected for undue delay and prejudice to SPH. Accordingly, pursuant to *Brilz*, the denial of leave to amend in *Weiner I* constitutes a final judgment on the merits. *Brilz*, ¶ 29.

In addition to the ruling in *Brilz*, this Court has held the doctrine of res judicata, or claim preclusion, also bars re-litigation of a claim that a party has already had the opportunity to litigate even where it was not actually litigated. See *Fisher v. State Farm Gen. Ins. Co.*, 1999 MT 308, ¶ 10, 297 Mont. 201, 991 P.2d 452. Courts from other jurisdictions have reached similar conclusions. For example, the 8th Circuit has held it is well established that “the denial of a motion to amend a complaint in one action is a final judgment on the merits barring the same complaint in a later action.” *Prof'l Mgmt. Assocs., Inc. v. KPMG LLP*, 345 F.3d 1030, 1032 (8th Cir.2003)(citing *Landscape Props., Inc. v. Whisenhunt*, 127 F.3d 768, 683 (8th Cir. 1997)); see also *King v. Hoover Group, Inc.*, 958 F.2d 219, 222-23 (8th Cir. 1992)(“Denial of leave to amend constitutes res judicata on the

merits of the claims which were the subject of the proposed amended pleading.”). The District Court of Minnesota, found in the 8th Circuit, followed this reasoning and held such a denial “constitutes res judicata on the merits of the claims which were the subject of the proposed amended pleading ... even when denial of leave to amend is based on reasons other than the merits, such as timeliness.” *Crystal Imp. Corp. v. AVID Identification Sys., Inc.*, 582 F. Supp. 2d 1166, 1170 (D. Minn. 2008)(quoting *Prof'l Mgmt.*, holding “denial of a motion for leave to amend a complaint to add claims constituted a final judgment on the merits of the claim for res judicata purposes.”).

The 1st Circuit has followed suit. “Denial of leave to amend constitutes res judicata on the merits of the claims which were the subject of the proposed amended pleading.” *Hatch v. Trail King Industries, Inc.*, 699 F.3d 38, 45 (1st Cir. 2012). “When a party chooses to move for leave to amend its complaint and then not to appeal denial of that motion, the party is not entitled to a second opportunity [in a later action] to litigate [the] claim that the party sought to add. Instead, the party’s recourse [is] to appeal, not to start a new action.” *Hatch*, 699 F.3d at 45.

The District Court also relied on *Save the Bull Trout v. Skipwith*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 81898 (D. Mont. May 6, 2020).² As in *Brilz*, the *Skipwith* court

² Adopted in full by Montana U.S. District Judge Dana L. Christensen in *Save the Bull Trout v. Skipwith*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 134127 (D. Mont. July 29, 2020).

acknowledged res judicata bars “claims that were raised *or could have been raised* in a prior action.” *Skipwith*, *6 (citing *Stewart v. U.S. Bancorp*, 297 F.3d 953, 956 (9th Cir. 2002)(Emphasis in original)). Claims presented in a failed motion to amend may be barred from being reasserted in a subsequent action for res judicata purposes. *Skipwith*, *8 (citing to *Mpoyo v. Litton Electro-Optical Sys.*, 430 F.3d 985 (9th Cir. 2005)). The *Skipwith* court held “denial of leave to amend in a prior action may bar those proposed claims in a subsequent action.” *Skipwith*, *10-11. Further, “in ‘unusual circumstances’ the denial of leave to amend may constitute a final judgment on the merits.” *Skipwith*, *11. Courts have interpreted and applied these principles based on the facts and circumstances of each case. *Id.* Thus, there is not a bright-line rule regarding whether a denial for a motion for leave to amend is unequivocally a final judgment on the merits. *Id.*

In applying the holdings in *Skipwith* to the case at hand, the District Court held the risk of inconsistent decisions was high because the two suits, *Weiner I* and *Weiner II*, were proceeding concurrently within the same district. (Weiner App. 1, p. 7). The District Court also held Weiner would be able to address the lion’s share of his concerns in *Weiner I*. (Weiner App. 1, p. 7). Further, the preliminary injunction was dissolved in *Weiner I*, and while appealable, Weiner failed to appeal the dissolution. (Weiner App. 1, pp. 7-8). Further, the District Court held it saw no basis to revisit Judge Menahan’s decision in a subsequent lawsuit and there

was nothing unfair about a determination that the order constituted a final judgment. (Weiner App. 1, p. 8).

The District Court reached these conclusions after carefully considering the facts and circumstances of the case. *See Skipwith*, *11. For example, it noted Judge Menahan was “troubled by the tactics [Weiner] demonstrated by opposing the stay that would have allowed him to timely bring these causes of action in *Weiner I*.” (Weiner App. 1, p. 8). Further, the Court looked to the fact Weiner raised the new theories five months after the deadline to amend, without moving to amend the scheduling order, despite always intending to raise them regardless of the outcome of the peer review process. (Weiner App. 1, p. 8). Therefore, the District Court held Weiner had the opportunity to litigate these causes of action in the first suit, and but for his tactics, he could have. (Weiner App. 1, p. 11). Moreover, the District Court held Weiner’s own actions led to this procedural quagmire. (Weiner App. 1, p. 12). Thus, the District Court appropriately held “...weighing all the circumstances presented, the Court finds that this is an unusual circumstance where denial of leave to amend the complaint in *Weiner I* constitutes a final judgment for res judicata purposes.” (Weiner App. 1, p. 9).

Weiner’s main argument regarding the final judgment finding is that the denial of his motion to amend in *Weiner I* was not “with prejudice.” Notably, Weiner did not raise this argument below. (*See generally* Doc. 8). Thus, his

argument should not be considered by this Court. *See Grizzly*, ¶ 59; *In re T.E.*, ¶ 20.

Judge Menahan's Order did not specifically state whether it was with or without prejudice. (Doc. 6, Exhibit D). However, a plain reading of his Order indicates finality of the issue and suggests it was with prejudice. Further, the Order does not state it was without prejudice. "Without prejudice" ordinarily imports the contemplation of further proceedings, and...shows that the judicial act is not intended to be res judicata of the merits of the controversy. *Black's Law Dictionary* 1603, 6th ed. 1991. Had Judge Menahan wanted to leave the door open for "further proceedings," he could have indicated the denial was without prejudice. He did not do so and while the District Court noted he did not expressly state that his order was with prejudice, it held all the circumstances presented constituted a final judgment for res judicata purposes. (Weiner App. 1, pp. 8-9). Therefore, it is clear the District Court considered whether the denial was with prejudice and determined it was. Further, *Mpoyo v. Litton Electro-Optical Systems*, 430 F.3d 985, 988 (9th Cir. 2005), held there was a final judgment when "the remainder of the claims, which arise out of the same transaction, were decided on the merits when they were dismissed on summary judgment." Here, summary judgment was entered against Weiner on the remainder of the claims, which arise

out of the same transaction, on August 31, 2023. (See SPH App. 1). Thus, as in *Mpoyo*, the res judicata test is satisfied.

Despite Montana law holding denial of a motion for leave to amend being construed as a final judgment, such as *Skipwith* and *Brilz*, Weiner relies on numerous cases from other jurisdictions. Essentially, Weiner argues the District Court should have relied on case law from the Second Circuit, Fifth Circuit, and Eleventh Circuit. However, those cases actually support giving the District Court discretion in its application of the doctrine of res judicata. For example, the Eleventh Circuit held the application of claim preclusion is not purely mechanical. *Seminole Tribe of Fla. v. Biegalski*, 757 F. App'x 851, 862 (11th Cir. 2018). Similarly, the Fifth Circuit stated it was unwilling to hold res judicata constituted an absolute from which it must never stray and believed that the occasional adoption of an exception to the finality rule would not undermine its general effectiveness. *Moch v. E Baton Rouge Par. Sch. Bd.*, 548 F.2d. 594, 598 (5th Cir. 1977). Lastly, Weiner cites to the principle that claim preclusion rules must strike a proper balance. *Brilz*, ¶ 21. While Weiner erroneously argues this balance should have tilted in his favor, the District Court appropriately balanced the issues, considered the circumstances, including Weiner's actions, and correctly concluded *Weiner II* was barred under the doctrine of res judicata.

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